
 

 

 
 
Notice of Meeting of 
 
LICENSING SUB-COMMITTEE 

 
Monday, 18 March 2024 at 10.00 am 
 
Sedgemoor Room, Bridgwater House, King 
Square, Bridgwater, TA6 3AR 
 
To: The members of the Licensing Sub-Committee 
 
Councillor Peter Clayton Councillor Hugh Davies 
Councillor Lance Duddridge  
 

 
For further information about the meeting, including how to join the meeting virtually, 
please contact Democratic Services democraticservicesteam@somerset.gov.uk. 
 
All members of the public are welcome to attend our meetings and ask questions or 
make a statement by giving advance notice in writing or by e-mail to the Monitoring 
Officer at email: democraticservicesteam@somerset.gov.uk by 5pm on Tuesday, 12 
March 2024. 
 
This meeting will be open to the public and press, subject to the passing of any 
resolution under the Local Government Act 1972, Schedule 12A: Access to Information.  
 
The meeting will be webcast and an audio recording made. 
 
Issued by (the Proper Officer) on Friday, 8 March 2024 

 

Public Agenda Pack

mailto:democraticservicesteam@somerset.gov.uk


 

 

AGENDA 
 

Licensing Sub-Committee - 10.00 am Monday, 18 March 2024 
  
Click here to join the online meeting (Pages 3 - 4) 

  
1   Appointment of Chair for the Sub-Committee  

  
2   Apologies for Absence  

 
To receive any apologies for absence. 
  

3   Declarations of Interest  
 
To receive and note any declarations of interests in respect of any matters included 
on the agenda for consideration at this meeting. 

(The other registrable interests of Councillors of Somerset Council, arising from 
membership of City, Town or Parish Councils and other Local Authorities will 
automatically be recorded in the minutes: City, Town & Parish Twin Hatters - 
Somerset Councillors 2023 ) 
  

4   Procedure to be followed when considering Licensing Applications under the 
Licensing Act 2003 (Pages 5 - 8) 
  

5   Minutes of the Sub-Committee  
 
To authorise the Chair of the meeting to agree the accuracy and sign the minutes as 
a correct record following circulation to the members of the Sub-Committee. 
  

6   Designated Premises Supervisor - Laburnum House Hotel (Pages 9 - 42) 
 
To consider an application to vary the Designated Premises Supervisor of the 
Laburnum House Hotel, 4 Sloway Lane, West Huntspill, TA9 3RJ following objections 
having been received from the Police. 
  

https://democracy.somerset.gov.uk/ecSDDisplay.aspx?NAME=City%20Town%20%20Parish%20Twin%20Hatters%20-%20Somerset%20Councill&ID=378&RPID=284137
https://democracy.somerset.gov.uk/ecSDDisplay.aspx?NAME=City%20Town%20%20Parish%20Twin%20Hatters%20-%20Somerset%20Councill&ID=378&RPID=284137


Microsoft Teams meeting  

 
 

Join on your computer, mobile app or room device  
Click here to join the meeting  
Meeting ID: 386 094 073 76  
Passcode: fDsvVk  
Download Teams | Join on the web 
 
Or call in (audio only)  
+44 1823 772277,,643155926#   United Kingdom, Taunton  
Phone Conference ID: 643 155 926#  
Find a local number | Reset PIN  
 
 

Page 3

Agenda Annex

https://teams.microsoft.com/l/meetup-join/19%3ameeting_OGVmYzQwZjMtYjA3OS00ZTA4LWE3MjItM2MyNTFiNTA0ZDc1%40thread.v2/0?context=%7b%22Tid%22%3a%22b524f606-f77a-4aa2-8da2-fe70343b0cce%22%2c%22Oid%22%3a%22728bd2ea-f6fe-44c6-b4e1-0efd686c7cf8%22%7d
https://www.microsoft.com/en-us/microsoft-teams/download-app
https://www.microsoft.com/microsoft-teams/join-a-meeting
tel:+441823772277,,643155926#
https://dialin.teams.microsoft.com/4e217883-910c-4f2a-a890-19f4d750e93c?id=643155926
https://dialin.teams.microsoft.com/usp/pstnconferencing


This page is intentionally left blank



Guidance notes for the meeting  

Council Public Meetings  

Provision will be made wherever possible for those who do not need to attend in 

person including the public and press who wish to view the meeting to be able to do 

so virtually.  

Inspection of Papers  

Any person wishing to inspect minutes, reports, or the background papers for any 

item on the agenda should contact Democratic Services at 

democraticservicesteam@somerset.gov.uk or telephone 01823 357628.  

They can also be accessed via the council's website on Committee structure -Modern 

Council (somerset.gov.uk) 

Members' Code of Conduct requirements  

When considering the declaration of interests and their actions as a councillor, 

Members are reminded of the requirements of the Members' Code of Conduct and 

the underpinning Principles of Public Life: Honesty; Integrity; Selflessness; 

Objectivity; Accountability; Openness; Leadership. The Code of Conduct can be 

viewed at: Code of Conduct  

Minutes of the Meeting  

Details of the issues discussed, and recommendations made at the meeting will be 

set out in the minutes, which the Committee will be asked to approve as a correct 

record at its next meeting.  

Exclusion of Press & Public  

If when considering an item on the agenda, the Committee may consider it 

appropriate to pass a resolution under Section l(S)(S)A (4) Schedule 12A of the Local 

Government Act 1972 that the press and public be excluded from the meeting on the 

basis that if they were present during the business to be transacted there would be a 

likelihood of disclosure of exempt information, as defined under the terms of the Act.  

If there are members of the public and press listening to the open part of the 

meeting, then the Democratic Services Officer will, at the appropriate time, ask 

Page 5

Agenda Item 4

mailto:democraticservicesteam@somerset.gov.uk


participants to leave the meeting when any exempt or confidential information is 

about to be discussed.  

Recording of meetings  

The Council supports the principles of openness and transparency. It allows filming, 

recording, and taking photographs at its meetings that are open to the public - 

providing this is done in a non-disruptive manner. Members of the public may use 

Facebook and Twitter or other forms of social media to report on proceedings. No 

filming or recording may take place when the press and public are excluded for that 

part of the meeting. 

 

PROCEDURE AT THE HEARING 
 

1. The Chair will open the Hearing and introduce the Sub-Committee and 
Officers. 
They will then ask each Party to introduce themselves. 

 
2. The Chair will confirm that if a Party is not present their 

representation/application will be read and taken into account in reaching the 
decision. 

 
3. The Chair will address any registerable interest arising under the Code of 

Conduct. 
 

4. The Chair will consider any submitted requests from a Party for permission for 
another person to appear at the Hearing. If necessary, the Sub-Committee will 
retire to deliberate before making a decision. 

 
5. The Chair will confirm that the Hearing will take the form of a round-the-table 

discussion led by the Sub-Committee in accordance with this procedure. If all 
Parties present confirm that they have seen and understood the procedure to 
be followed at the Hearing and agree that they are ready to proceed then the 
Hearing shall commence. 

 
6. The Chair will remind everyone that the purpose of the Hearing should be 

borne in mind at all times i.e. To enable those with a right to appear, to 
amplify their written application or representation. It is also to assist the Sub-
Committee to gather evidence and understand the relevant issues. 

Page 6



 
7. The Chair will confirm what advance papers have been received and that these 

have been read. 
 

8. The Chair will make clear that all Parties should only address the Sub-
Committee in relation to matters they have raised in their 
application/representation. Any Party wishing to submit late evidence at the 
Hearing will only be able to do so with the consent of all Parties present and 
with the consent of the Sub-Committee. 

 
9. The Chair will confirm whether all Parties have seen and understood the 

procedure to be followed and are ready to proceed with the Hearing. 
 

10. The Chair will ask the Applicant whether they wish to make any amendments 
to their application with a view to addressing any issues raised by 
representations. 

 
11. Order of Oral Presentation 

 

(a) The Licensing Officer will present their report outlining the details of the 
application/notice/representations received. 
 

(b) Any Party may question the Licensing Officer. 
 

(c) The Members may question the Licensing Officer. 
 

(d) Responsible Authorities will present their case and call any witnesses. 
 

(e) Any Party may question the Responsible Authorities and any witnesses. 
 

(f) Members may question the Responsible Authorities and any witnesses. 
 

(g) Other Person(s) will present their case in turn and call any witnesses. 
 

(h) Any Party may question the Other Person(s). 
 

(i) Members may question the Other Person(s). 
 

(j) The Applicant/Licence Holder will present their case and call any 
witnesses. 

Page 7



 
(k) Any Party may question the Applicant/Licence Holder and any witnesses. 

 
(l) Members may question the Applicant/Licence Holder and any witnesses. 

 
The Chair at their discretion, may change the order of oral presentation at any 
stage, if it is considered to be beneficial to the flow of the hearing. 

 
12. Before moving on to the next Party, the Chair will check there are no further 

points the current Party wishes to make or any further questions that need to 
be put to that Party. 

 
13. The Licensing Officer may present any further information such as proposed 

nonmandatory Conditions deriving from the Operating Schedule or suggested 
by any Party. However, it will remain for the Sub-Committee to determine what 
conditions will apply, if any, should the application be successful. 

 
14. Each Party will be invited to make closing submissions in the following order – 

a. Responsible Authorities 
b. Other Persons 
c. The Applicant 
d. Licensing Officer 

 
15. The Chair will then close the Hearing and the Sub-Committee will retire to 

determine the matter. The Legal Advisor will retire with the Sub-Committee to 
answer any points of law. 

 
16. The Sub-Committee will come to a decision which will be sent to the Applicant 

and all other relevant Parties together with the details of the right to appeal. 
 
NOTE: 
In producing this procedure the following has been considered: - 
The relevant legislation and statutory guidance together with local policies and 
procedures. 
 

Page 8



Decision Report – Licensing Decision 
 
 
 
 

 
 
Application to vary a Premises Licence to specify an individual as 
Designated Premises Supervisor (DPS)  
 
Executive Member(s): Cllr Federica Smith-Roberts 
Local Members and Division: Cllrs Mark Healey and Suria Aujla, Huntspill 
Lead Officer: Alan Weldon, Licensing & Fraud Manager 
Author: Alan Weldon 
Contact Details: alan.weldon@somerset.gov.uk  
 
 
Introduction and Background 
 
1.   The matter for consideration before the Sub-Committee is the determination of 

an application to specify an individual Designated Premises Supervisor (DPS) 
in accordance with the Licensing Act 2003, following the receipt of a relevant 
representation by way of objection on behalf of the Avon & Somerset Police 
from Police Alcohol Licensing Officer, Nicola Cooper. 

 
 
2.    On 13th February 2024, an application to vary the Premises Licence to specify 

an individual as Designated Premises Supervisor (DPS) in respect of Laburnum 
House Hotel, 4 Sloway Lane, West Huntspill, TA9 3RJ was received in full, 
from Mr Steven Cox. The application seeks to vary the licence to specify a new 
DPS, Mr Steven Cox. Mr Steven Cox is also joint Premises Licence Holder with 
his father, Mr David Cox. A copy of the redacted application form is shown as 
Appendix A.  

 
3.   The premises licence authorises the retail sale of alcohol for consumption on 

and off the premises during the following hours: 11.00 hrs to 00.00 hrs Daily. 
Prior to the application being made, Mr David Cox was the named DPS. A plan 
of the premises and maps of the area surrounding the premises are attached 
as Appendices B and C respectively.  

 
 
4. On 26th February 2024, Nicola Cooper submitted a representation in respect of 

this application on behalf of the Police, the representation report being shown 
as Appendix D. The Police have provided further documentation in support of 
the representation, namely a witness statement (Appendix E), a copy of email 
correspondence between the Police and the applicant (Appendix F) and a 
letter dated 21st February 2024, sent by the Police to the Licence Holders 
(Appendix G). 

 

Page 9

Agenda Item 6

mailto:alan.weldon@somerset.gov.uk


Recommendations 
  
5.  The Licensing Sub-Committee is required to determine the application in 

accordance with the Act and must resolve to do one of the following: 
 

a. To grant the application to vary the premises licence to specify the DPS as 
Mr. Steven Cox. 
 

b. To refuse the application to vary the premises licence to specify the DPS as 
Mr. Steven Cox.  

Reasons for recommendations 
 
6.  It is therefore the duty of the Licensing Sub-Committee to determine the 

application with a view to the promotion of the licensing objectives which are: - 
  

• The prevention of crime and disorder; 
• Public safety; 
• The prevention of public nuisance; and 
• The protection of children from harm. 

 
7.  The representation in this case refers to the prevention of crime and disorder. 
 
Other options considered 
 
8.  Not applicable. 
 
Links to Council Vision, Business Plan and Medium-Term Financial Strategy 
 
9.  The Council must carry out its functions in accordance with the Act with a view 

to promoting the licensing objectives and this remains the prime consideration of 
this report. 

 
Financial and Risk Implications 
 
10.  There are no financial implications.  
 
11.  There are no significant risks identified provided that the application is 

determined correctly, in accordance with the legislation and having due regard 
to the Somerset Council’s Licensing Policy. 

 
Legal Implications 
 
12.  The Licensing Officer has determined that the representation submitted by Nicola 

Cooper, Avon and Somerset Police Alcohol Licensing Officer is relevant. It is, 
therefore, the duty of the Licensing Sub-Committee to determine the 
application with regards to the licensing objectives. The issue is whether or not 
the application as submitted, sufficiently promotes the licensing objectives; 
whether the promotion of the licensing objectives requires the application to be 

Page 10



granted, or whether the application requires it to be refused because the licensing 
objectives cannot be met.  

 
HR Implications 
 
13.  None 
 
 
Other Implications: - 
 
Equalities Implications 
 
14.  None.   
 
Community Safety Implications  
 
15.  None. 
 
Climate Change and Sustainability Implications  
 
16.  None. 
 
Health and Safety Implications  
 
17.  None.  
 
Health and Wellbeing Implications  
 
18. The Licensing Sub-Committee may consider any factors that would promote 

or, conversely, undermine the licensing objectives.  

Social Value 
 
19. As the contents of this report do not relate to a procurement process, there are 

no social value implications. 

Scrutiny comments / recommendations: 
 
20. This report relates to a statutory function of the Council, which is the 

responsibility of the Licensing & Regulatory Committee (delegated to a Sub-
Committee), so there are no scrutiny comments or recommendations to make. 

Background Papers 
 
21. As identified in the report and below under ‘Appendices’. 

 
Appendices 
 
Appendix A – Redacted copy of the application 
Appendix B – A plan of the premises 

Page 11



Appendix C – Maps of the immediate area 
Appendix D – Copies of the representation form and report submitted by the Police 
Appendix E – Witness statement in support of the Police representation 
Appendix F – Email correspondence between Police and Mr Steven Cox 
Appendix G – Letter from the Police to the Licence Holders dated 21st February 2024 

Page 12



Appendix A

Page 13



Appendix A

Page 14



Appendix B

P
age 15



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Appendix C

P
age 17



 

Appendix C

P
age 18



 

Appendix C

P
age 19



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Appendix D

Page 21



Statement of Licensing Policy 4.5.3. (May 23) states that it is essential that Police Officers and 
other Responsible Authorities can immediately identify the DPS so that any problems can be 
dealt with swiftly. It states that the DPS will occupy a pivotal position but I do not feel that the 
applicant has shown any willingness to work in Partnership with us. I have attached a statement 
outlining my recollection of the telephone call which we would ask is also considered as part of 
our representations. I also attach copy correspondence of an email trail which followed between 
myself and the applicant. 

This premises was initially brought to my attention by the Neighbourhood Sergeant PS Hardaway 
due to concerns with sale of alcohol from a shop within the site. I subsequently attended the 
premises at her request and staff/residents including the applicant have denied that there is any 
shop premises within the site. At the same time I have met with a tenant of the Escape Rooms
within the site, who had been advised that he could sell alcohol under the terms of the premises 
licence but which was not authorised by their licence. The applicant was present during this 
conversation on 14 th November 2023. 

It is our expectation that a Designated Premises Supervisor and Personal Licence Holder will be 
a responsible person in day to day control of the premises. Having looked at this premises in 
detail when collating information for the attached letter, it appears that the applicant has no 
regard for the law or his responsibilities under the Licensing Act 2003 and associated legislation. 
Although our representations do not relate to relevant offences or conditions of the licence the 
information we are putting forward we believe amounts to exceptional concerns whereby we feel 
we can evidence that the applicant has a general disregard for the law and thus is not a suitable 
person for the role of DPS. 

Regarding associated legislation the s.182 guidance of the 2003 Act point 1.19 states that 
licensing authorities and licensees should be mindful of requirements and responsibilities placed 
upon them by other legislation which would include:- 

" The Gambling Act 2005 " The Environmental Protection Act 1990 " The Noise Act 1996 " The 
Clean Neighbourhoods and Environmental Act 2005 " The Regulatory Reform (Fire Safety) Order 
2005 " The Health and Safety at Work etc. Act 1974 " The Equality Act 2010 " The Immigration 
Act 2016 " Regulators Code under the Legislative and Regulatory Reform Act 2006. 

In the vast majority of cases a vary DPS application should be a simple administrative process. 
However the s.182 Guidance of the Licensing Act 2003 point 4.69 states that the police may 
object to the designation of a new DPS where, in exceptional circumstances they believe that the 
appointment would undermine the crime prevention objective. In summary we re-iterate the 
following reasons for objecting to this application which we feel meets this criteria as follows: 

Unauthorised sales of alcohol despite being advised. 
Alcohol on display for sale in unlicensed areas. 
Gaming machines in use outside a licensed area breaching the Gambling Act 2005. 

Although the lack of fire risk assessments and planning permissions are not relevant to the crime 
prevention objective for the purpose of these representations, they are relevant to the premises 
lack of compliance over several years and supports the lack of responsibility and respect for 
relevant legislation by the applicant. We feel that this background supports our representations 
that the applicant has a continued disregard for the law and his responsibilities under the 
Licensing Act 2003. 

For the purpose of this representation, we do not believe that the applicant would meet our 
expectations as DPS and he has denied any responsibility for the offences found, blaming the 
Police for not advising him yet he has been advised. This only exacerbates the issues. We 
have also found that the applicant lacks integrity and has proved very difficult to communicate 
with. 

When drafting these representations, I have referred also to Somerset Councils Statement of

Appendix D

Page 22



Licensing policy and specifically refer to the following points&. 

2.4.4 states that the Licensing Authority expects license holders to ensure that gaming machines 
in premises licencsed to sell/supply alcohol are made available strictly in accordance with the 
Gambling Commissions code of practice in alcohol-licensed premises. 

3.1 Partnership working - where delivery includes working with Partner Agencies including the 
Police. 

4.5.2. The Premises Licence holder remains responsible for ensuring that the licensing law and 
conditions are complied with at the premises. Any authorisations should be meaningful and 
properly managed. 

In conclusion, we have considered the Councils Statement of Licensing Policy (May 2023), the 
Secretary of States Guidance and current legislation. We have no confidence that the applicant 
will meet expectations regarding the responsible management of this premises and we do not 
believe that he is responsible to hold the position of DPS. We have not taken this decision lightly 
and it is very rare to submit representations that give rise to exceptional concerns. 

On behalf of the Chief Officer of Police of Avon & Somerset Constabulary , we believe that the 
above and attached information does amount to exceptional circumstances. We are currently 
collating information for a review of the Premises Licence in its entirety due to the current issues. 
Although the previous DPS Mr David Cox also appeared to be unaware of the offences and has 
given me contradicting information about the site in a telephone call on the 8 th February 2024, 
he advised me that he lives on site and is at the premises every day. We are satisfied that to 
vary the DPS to Mr Steven Cox would not allay our concerns or improve the situation and it would 
undermine the crime prevention objective. 

We ask that the Licensing sub-committee give this matter their attention and consideration. 

N.B If you do make a representation you will be expected to attend the Licensing Sub 
Committee and any 
subsequent appeal proceeding. 

Signed: Nicola Cooper 8820 (Taunton & Somerset West) 
Date: 26th February 2024

Appendix D

Page 23



This page is intentionally left blank



Signature Digitaly Signed 27/11/23 Signature Witnessed By 

Page Number  1 of  2 Pages 

OFFICIAL-SENSITIVE (when completed) MG11 

OFFICIAL-SENSITIVE (when completed) 2014 

WITNESS STATEMENT 
Criminal Procedure Rules, r 16. 2; Criminal Justice Act 1967, s. 9 

URN 

Statement of: Nicola COOPER 

Age if 18 or 
under: Over 18 *see overleaf (if over 18 insert ‘over 18’) Occupation:  Police Constable 

This statement (consisting of 2 page(s) each signed by me is true to the best of my knowledge and belief and  make it 
knowing that, if it is tendered in evidence, I shall be liable to prosecution if I have wilfully stated in it anything which I know 
to be false, or do not believe to be true. 

Victim / Witness signature: Digitally Signed 22/02/24 Date: 22ND February 2024 

I am Police Alcohol Licensing Officer 8820 COOPER of the Avon and Somerset Constabulary covering 
Taunton & West Somerset since October 2012.   

On Wednesday 21st February 2022 at 14.59 I received a telephone call from Mr Steven Cox of Laburnum 
House Hotel, 4 Sloway Lane, Highbridge.  He was returning a voice message I had left earlier in the day.  
I wanted to speak to Mr Cox before sending him a letter dated 21st February 2022 regarding 
unauthorised sales of alcohol and other licensing issues at the premises.  I wanted to discuss the matter 
by telephone before issuing the letter and discuss the premises licence. 

When I answered the telephone Mr Cox was initially polite and I asked why he had submitted an 
application to vary the Designated Premises Supervisor from his Father Mr David Cox to himself.  He 
said he was more involved in the running of the premises and his father was now elderly.  He went on to 
say that he had just signed a 7 year lease for Hinkley workers to occupy the premises and I stated that 
he did not have planning permission for that as it had not yet been decided.    At that point Mr Cox 
became verbally aggressive over the telephone towards me calling me a “jobs worth, and that I was rude 
and he paid my wages”.  I asked what he meant by that and he said “you must know what I mean by 
paying your wages and referred to council tax”.  The call lasted for 15 mins and 51 seconds and Mr Cox 
would not let me speak.  I did not get to discuss the letter or the premises licence.   

During the call Steven Cox said  it was my job to advise him if he was doing anything wrong.  I tried to 
clarify that he had been a licence holder for over 35 years and he responded “that is for you to find out”.  
He was repeating “listen to yourself, saying something about using my authority, repeating that I was a 
jobsworth and that he would be making a complaint about me.  I asked him what were his grounds for 
making a complaint.  He said there must be an ulterior motive and to just tell him what it was and that I 
had a personal vendetta towards him and I was rude.  He said I had not written the letter and someone 
else must have written it and to tell him what was going on.  At this point he had not been sent the letter 
or seen it or knew of it’s contents.   I had only previously met Mr Cox once before and face to face on 14th 
November 2023 when I had advised him about his licensed area.  The letter I was sending to him was 
putting everything in writing as we must keep a record.  He refused to discuss the contents of the letter 
with me in a civil manner before it was sent to him.    

I found Mr Cox to be unprofessional,  rude, sarcastic, intimidating towards me. Under s.4.62 of the s.182 
guidance of the Licensing Act  the Government considers it essential that police officers, fire officers or 
officers of the licensing authority can identify immediately the DPS so that any problems can be dealt 

Appendix E

Page 25



Witness Name: Liam FRAMPTON URN   

Signature Digitaly Signed 27/11/23 Signature Witnessed By 

Page Number 
2 of 2 

Pages 

OFFICIAL-SENSITIVE (when complete) MG11 

OFFICIAL-SENSITIVE (when complete) 2014 

with swiftly.   I did not feel that I would be able to resolve any problems with Mr Cox due to his obstructive 
attitude.   

I eventually said that I would just send the letter to him for signature by both Premises Licence Holders 
and he said email would be better as the Bulgarian’s steal the post.   

This is not our expectation for a proposed Designated Premises Supervisor or indeed Premises Licence 
Holder to speak to a Responsible Authority in this manner.  I was so taken aback with Mr Cox’s outburst 
that I put the phone on to loud speaker for colleagues to listen to.  They advised me to end the call which 
I did.    

Appendix E

Page 26



Appendix F

Page 27



Appendix F

Page 28



Appendix F

Page 29



Appendix F

Page 30



Appendix F

Page 31



Appendix F

Page 32



Appendix F

Page 33



Appendix F

Page 34



Appendix F

Page 35



Appendix F

Page 36



Appendix F

Page 37



Appendix F

Page 38



Appendix G

Page 39



approx the last 12 months you have made 7 calls to the police about alleged incidents of 
crime & disorder occurring on the premises. 
Staff had directed me to some portakabins and a caf outside of the licensed area known as 
the Escape Rooms which I understand is owned and run by an independent third party. 
Mr Stephen Cox accompanied me to these premises and the tenant advised me that he sold 
alcohol to his customers and sometimes gave it away as part of the admission fee to the 
escape rooms. There was no licence displayed and he did not have a copy. He was unable 
to provide any authority or consent, which would authorise any sale of alcohol within this 
area. The Premises licence holders were aware of the sale of alcohol outside of the licensed 
plan and had allegedly allowed the tenant to pay the license fee, advising him that he could 
sell alcohol. 
Mr Stephen Cox advised me that they had consented to him selling alcohol from that area 
which falls outside of the license plan and I advised you at that time that any sale of alcohol 
was unlawful. 
It was apparent during this visit, that all persons spoken to were unaware of the law and 
responsibilities under the Licenisng Act 2003. 
You were given advice regarding the licensed area and where alcohol could be sold. 
During this visit Mr Stephen Cox advised me that he did not want the licence, did not need it 
and nor did he want the machines and to take them away. 

I have subsequently followed this up by email on the 15 TH December 2023 requesting 
surrender of the premises licence and clarifying the licensed area. 
To date you have not surrendered the licence as requested and agreed during our visit but 
mentioned a variation of the licence instead. PC Jones has advised me that you have told 
her that you will not be surrendering the licence. 

The Premises licence as numbered above was issued for a Hotel & Restaurant Premises only and I 
am aware that the site is not being run as a Hotel. My definition and interpretation of a Hotel
would be described as an establishment that provides paid lodging on a short term basis . 

On 21 st July 2005 Ash Clifford applied on your behalf for the licence to be converted to a Premises 
Licence and on the application form the premises is described as Detached Hotel & Restaurant 
(also open to non-residents). All Licensable activities take place on ground floor of building with 
guests staying in lodges in grounds . We have not received any variations to this application since 
2005. I understand there are 61 lodges and some additional unlicensed caravans. The Hotel 
within the licensed area has been unused for some time and it was unfurnished during my visit and 
appeared derelict . There is a notice dated 12 th August 2021 on the hotel website stating that 
your hotel is closed for holiday bookings until further notice. I am also aware of a current planning 
application for a change of use and a subsequent objection from Somerset Council strategic 
housing giving further details about the premises and breach of it s use. Other residents have 
commented that the premises has not been used as a hotel in over 3 years. 

Following my visit my colleague PC Tracey Jones conducted a further visit on the 22 nd January 2024 
and her findings were as follows:- 

Having told me there was no shop, PC Jones was taken to the same shop area that she knew 
to be trading as a shop. There was a limited stock of alcohol including 10 bottles of red wine 
selling for 10.00 per bottle and despite my advice regarding the licensed area. This

Appendix G

Page 40



constitutes continued unauthorised sales or displaying alcohol for sale which is an offence 
under s.137 of the Licensing Act 2003. A male named Mattios was working in the shop and 
he had no understanding of licensing law. There was no due diligence in place such as 
staff training. PC Jones was advised that Mattios had set up the shop with Deakcun Britton 
who had previously advised me that there was no shop. The shop was located next to the 
reception service area which contains the laundry facilities. PC Jones provided me with it s 
location on a plan. 
During this visit Mr Britton arrived and advised PC Jones he did not know where the licence 
was and had told Mattios not to sell alcohol. Mr Britton said he did not tell me about the 
shop as it was not up and running at that time (14/12/23) which we know to be untrue. 
Mr Britton was advised to move the alcohol into the licensed area but chose to dispose of it. 
He then poured it down a drain in front of PC Jones. 
Mr Britton advised PC Jones that when Hinkley workers take over they will be running the 
shop as a Nasa premises but the shop area is outside of the licensed area. 
I understand there is a second gaming machine in the shop area which would be unlicensed 
and a further offence under s.242 of the Gambling Act 2005. 
On a subsequent visit PC Jones has witnessed a supply of alcohol in the old Hotel Bar. 

On 13 th December 2023 and 14 th February 2024 you have been advised by Devon & 
Somerset Fire Service that your Fire Risk Assessment at the premises was deemed not 
suitable or sufficient. 

On 21 st February 2024 I have telephoned you to discuss the contents of this letter before sending it 
to you but you refused to discuss anything with me in a civil manner. You have stated that you are 
no longer selling alcohol and were unaware of the ongoing alcohol sale/display of alcohol in the 
shop. 

I am also in receipt of an application to vary the Designated Premises Supervisor to yourself but we 
will be making representations in that respect and referring the decision to the Licensing Authority 
in view of the offences outlined herein. 

As you are aware, unauthorised sale of alcohol is an offence under section 136 of the Licensing Act 
2003 and despite being advised, unauthorised sale of alcohol has continued. The maximum 
penalty under the legislation for responsible persons or management bodies of licensed premises is 
an unlimited fine &/or six months imprisonment. 

It is very apparent during these visits that you and your staff have no regard for the law and your 
responsibilities under the Licensing Act. In this particular instance the following action will be 
taken:- 

A record of these breaches will be kept on the premises licensing file and may be cited in 
any future proceedings. 
A copy of this letter has been forwarded to the Licensing Authority at Somerset County 
Council. 
Further licensing checks will be carried out. 
We will not consider any variations to the Premises Licence until the premises is fully 
compliant with all relevant legislation including Planning and Fire regulations. The business 
use of the premises must be fully clarified so that appropriate conditions can be proposed

Appendix G

Page 41



otherwise allowing licensable activities to continue would undermine the licensing 
objectives. 
We strongly advise you to cease any alcohol sale and remove all alcohol from the premises. 
You must cease use of gaming machines outside of licensed areas. 
Please return a signed copy of this letter to me within the next 7 days. The letter requires 
signature by both premises licence holders to acknowledge that they have read and 
understood the contents. 

I acknowledge receipt of this letter. I understand that a record will be kept on the 
premises licensing file and failure to rectify the above breaches will result in a 
review of the premises licence. 

Signed&&&&&&&&&&&&&&&&&&..Stephen Cox (PLH) 

Signed &&&&&&&&&&&&&&&&&&.David Cox (PLH) 

Dated&&&&&&&&&&&&&&&&&&&. 

Issuing Officer Nicola Cooper 8820 Dated 21st February 2024 

Nicola Cooper District Licensing Officer 
Avon & Somerset Constabulary 
Taunton & West Somerset 

CC Somerset Council Licensing Authority

Appendix G

Page 42


	Agenda
	 Click here to join the online meeting
	4 Procedure to be followed when considering Licensing Applications under the Licensing Act 2003
	6 Designated Premises Supervisor - Laburnum House Hotel
	Appendix A
	Appendix B
	Appendix C
	Appendix D
	Appendix E
	Appendix F
	Appendix G




